
 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

Leeds Municipal Annex - 1412 9th Street; Leeds, Alabama 35094 

April 19, 2021 @ 6:00 PM 

 

 
CALL COUNCIL MEETING TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL / INVOCATION / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

PUBLIC HEARING 
Anyone wishing to address the Council during the Public Comment section of the meeting must sign in 
with the City Clerk to provide their name and address. 

1. Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The City Code Of Ordinances at 7310 
Parkway Drive 

2. Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The City Code Of Ordinances at 1234 
Markeeta Spur Road 

3. B21-000004: Request for an Alcoholic Beverage License to Himalaya Leeds Corporation, 
trade name Lucky 7s at 7502 Parkway Drive 

APPROVE COUNCIL MINUTES 

4. Minutes from April 05, 2021 

REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

5. Mayor's Report: Mayor David Miller 

6. Police Department: Chief Atkinson 

March 2021 Report 

7. Fire Department: Chief Parsons 

8. Library: Library Director Carden 

9. Municipal Court: Magistrate Roberts 

10. Development Services Department: City Administrator Watson 

Over-time Report 

11. Public Works Department: Public Works Director Warren 

OLD BUSINESS: 

NEW BUSINESS: 

12. Ordinance 2021-04-01: Consider Re-approval of Spectrum Franchise Renewal 

13. Resolution 2021-04-04: Consider Approving 2021 "Back-to-School" Sales Tax Holiday 

14. Resolution 2021-04-05: Consider Approval to Make Certain Budget Amendments to 
Purchase Various Equipment 

1



15. Resolution 2021-04-06: Consider Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The 
City Code Of Ordinances at 7310 Parkway Drive 

16. Resolution 2021-04-07: Consider Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The 
City Code Of Ordinances at 1234 Markeeta Spur Road 

17. Resolution 2021-04-08: Consider Approval of Alcohol License to Himalaya Leeds Corporation, 
trade name Lucky 7s at 7502 Parkway Drive 

PUBLIC COMMENTS  
All comments are to be limited to 2 minutes 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for Council 
meetings should notify the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the meeting at 205-699-2585. 

2



File Attachments for Item:

1. Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The City Code Of Ordinances at 7310 

Parkway Drive

3



4



File Attachments for Item:

2. Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The City Code Of Ordinances at 1234 

Markeeta Spur Road

5



6



File Attachments for Item:

3. B21-000004: Request for an Alcoholic Beverage License to Himalaya Leeds Corporation, 

trade name Lucky 7s at 7502 Parkway Drive

7



B21-00004 
NOTICE OF PENDING APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF 

ISSUANCE OF A LIQUOR LICENSE IN THE CITY OF LEEDS 
ALABAMA 

 
Notice is hereby given that HIMALAYA LEEDS CORP  doing business as LUCKY 7S 

FOODMARY located at 7502 PARKWAY DR., LEEDS, AL 35094 has made application for 
the City of Leeds Council to approve the issuance of a Type 050– RETAIL BEER (OFF-
PREMISES and Type 070 – RETAIL TABLE WINE (OFF-PREMISES) licenses by the 

Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control Board and that on the 19TH of April, 2021, at 6:00 PM 
has been set for the hearing thereof at the Leeds City Council Meeting located to be held at: 

 
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER 

1412 9TH ST 
LEEDS, AL 35094 

 
Any interested persons may appear at said time and place and be heard either for or against 

the granting of such approval. 
Any person needing special accommodations to attend this hearing, please contact the City 
Clerk (cityhall@leedsalabama.gov or 205-699-2585) at least 3 business days in advance. 

 anbe heard for or against the granting of such approval 

8



File Attachments for Item:

4. Minutes from April 05, 2021

9



Page 1 of 3 
Minutes of Regular Council Meeting  

April 05, 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

Go-To-Meeting - Virtual Meeting Room 

April 05, 2021 @ 6:00 PM 

 

 
CALL COUNCIL MEETING TO ORDER 

Mayor David Miller called the meeting to order at 6:02 pm. 

ROLL CALL / INVOCATION / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

PRESENT 
Mayor David Miller 
Council member Eric Turner 
Council member Johnny Dutton 
Council member Devoris Ragland-Pierce 
Council member Angie Latta 

ABSENT 
Council member Kenneth Washington 

INVOCATION 
Council member Eric Turner 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Mayor David Miller 

APPROVE COUNCIL MINUTES 

1. Minutes from March 15, 2021 

Motion to approve minutes from March 15, 2021 made by Council member Turner, Seconded 
by Council member Dutton.  Voting Yea: Mayor Miller, Council member Turner, Council 
member Dutton, Council member Ragland-Pierce and Council member Latta. 
 

2. Minutes from March 25, 2021 

Motion to approve minutes from March 25, 2021 made by Council member Turner, Seconded 
by Council member Dutton.  Voting Yea: Mayor Miller, Council member Turner, Council 
member Dutton, Council member Ragland-Pierce and Council member Latta. 
 

REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

3. Mayor's Report: Mayor David Miller 

Mayor Miller reported that Buc-ee's is doing well. 

4. Police Department: Chief Atkinson 

No report. 

10



Page 2 of 3 
Minutes of Regular Council Meeting  

April 05, 2021 

5. Fire Department: Chief Parsons 

Chief Parsons explained that our Sutphen salesman will have Alabaster's new fire truck on 
display prior to the next meeting. 

6. Library: Library Director Carden 

Due to changes in the twenty-sixth Supplemental State of Emergency, the library will allow up 
to 10 people in their building starting Monday, April 09, 2021. 

7. Municipal Court: Magistrate Roberts 

Due to changes in the twenty-sixth Supplemental State of Emergency, Municipal Court is 
preparing for mask-free court after April 09, 2021. 

8. Development Services Department: City Administrator Watson 

The financing on the fire truck will close tomorrow.  Public Works Department is migrating 
over to the Citizen Serve program for complaints and/or service requests. 

9. Public Works Department: Public Works Director Warren 

Director Warren is working on the leak at the splash pad.  Mayor Miller requested some type 
of protectant for the fixtures to prohibit their fading. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

There was none. 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

10. Resolution 2021-04-01: Consider Adoption and Ratification of February 2021 City 
Expenditures/Payables 

Motion to approve Resolution 2021-04-01 made by Council member Dutton, Seconded by 
Council member Ragland-Pierce.  Voting Yea: Mayor Miller, Council member Turner, Council 
member Dutton, Council member Ragland-Pierce and Council member Latta. 
 

11. Resolution 2021-04-02: Consider Adoption and Ratification of March 2021 City 
Expenditures/Payables 

Motion to approve Resolution 2021-04-02 made by Council member Dutton, Seconded by 
Council member Ragland-Pierce.  Voting Yea: Mayor Miller, Council member Turner, Council 
member Dutton, Council member Ragland-Pierce and Council member Latta. 
 

12. Resolution 2021-04-03: Consider Conveyance of Property to Jefferson County as per 1998 
Unification Agreement 

Motion to approve Resolution 2021-04-03 made by Council member Dutton, Seconded by 
Council member Turner.  Voting Yea: Mayor Miller, Council member Turner, Council member 
Dutton, Council member Ragland-Pierce and Council member Latta. 
 

 

11



Page 3 of 3 
Minutes of Regular Council Meeting  

April 05, 2021 

PUBLIC COMMENTS  

There was none. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion to adjourn made by Council member Dutton, Seconded by Council member Turner.  Voting Yea: 
Mayor Miller, Council member Turner, Council member Dutton, Council member Ragland-Pierce and 
Council member Latta. 

The meeting adjourned at 6:13 pm. 

 

 

____________________________________   

David Miller, Mayor       

 

Attest: 

 

____________________________________ 

Toushi Artbitelle, City Clerk 

12



File Attachments for Item:

6. Police Department: Chief Atkinson

March 2021 Report

13



    

DATE:

and the 2021

Category *Calls

Answered

All

Reports

Traffic

Stops

Traffic

Citations

Warning

Citations

Misd.

Arrests

Felony

Arrests

Warrants

Served
Mar 2021 788 328 217 152 38 26 110

2021 YTD 2200 780 554 355 104 76 252

Mar 2020 726 171 142 59 49 12 24

2020 YTD 2413 762 632 253 105 30 142

Category

*Officer 

Assists Court Hours

Training 

Hours

Shifts 

Worked

Miles 

Driven

Business 

Cks/Card

Mar 2021 370 8 264 24,083 215

2021 YTD 957 20 734 64,151 674 0 0

Mar 2020 248 0 256 16,687 242

2020 YTD 873 169 741 51,070 710 0 0

Mar 2021 Miles = Hours = 65.0

2021 YTD Miles = Hours = 172.0

2020 Total Miles = Hours = 522.0

False 

Alarms
Burglary 

Residence

Robbery 

Residence
Totals

Mar 2021 8 0 20

2021 YTD 18 0 52

2020 Total 118 1 304

THE CITY OF LEEDS

LEEDS POLICE DEPARTMENT

1040 PARK DRIVE

LEEDS, ALABAMA 35094-2213

BUS: (205) 699-2581

FAX: (205) 702-6556

J ATKINSON DAVID MILLER

CHIEF OF POLICE MAYOR

April 7, 2021

Mayor and Council:

The following ia a summary of the Police Department activities for the month of March

year-to-date totals.

Police Department Activity Summary
Accidents

Investigated

Non-Traffic

Citations

33 211 8

85 521 12

35 152 1

113 490 18

*Public 

Assists

Dispatch 

CFS

296 39 1946

855 118 4899

221 19 1412

894 93 4456

*Calls answered, Officer Assists and Public Assists equal all calls.

Jail Expenses Prisoner Transportation

No. of Inmate Days 115 1,485.0 Mar 2021

Mar. Expenses $3,737.50 4,186.2 2021 YTD

2020 Total $40,507.50 14,162.2 2020 Total

2021 YTD $8,905.00

False Alarms

Burglary 

Business
Robbery 

Business

Chargeable

11 1 20

32 2 52

170 15 304

14



Rape Robbery Assault Felony 

Theft

MVT

5 1 2 10 4

6 1 3 33 9

3 1 4 12 3

3 0 2 8 2

0 0 1 13 2

3 2 2 30 4

Assigned Cases

Statistics for Leeds, 

Alabama
Homicide Burglary

Mar 2021 0 5

2021 YTD 0 9

Cases Cleared YTD 0 4

0 3
Mar 2020 0 2

2020 YTD 1 9

Lt. J E Loebler

Respectfully Submitted,

15



File Attachments for Item:

10. Development Services Department: City Administrator Watson

Over-time Report

16



17



File Attachments for Item:

12. Ordinance 2021-04-01: Consider Re-approval of Spectrum Franchise Renewal

18



Page 1 of 2 

 

CITY OF LEEDS 

ORDINANCE NO.: 2021-04-01 

 

REPEAL ORDINACE 2020-12-01 – REAPPROVE CABLE FRANCHISE. 

 

 WHEREAS, in March of 2014 the City and Marcus of Alabama (i.e. Charter) entered into 

a Franchise Agreement for Cable Television Franchise Services within the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, in December of 2020 the City approved Ordinance 2020-12-01 which 

provided approval of the same terms and conditions as previously implemented; and 

 

WHEREAS, Spectrum Southeast (a.k.a. Charter) has requested that they be allowed to 

pay the entire 5% franchise fee instead of exchanging services for a portion of that fee, which in-

turn would provide a larger financial benefit to the City long term instead of complementary 

services; and 

 

WHEREAS, although the City approved an extensions of the prior franchise agreement, 

Charter Cable in 2019 as well as the approval of the new franchise in 2020, Charter has requested 

that a new Franchise be adopted. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY ORDAINED by the City of Leeds that, in 

consideration of the foregoing, as follows: 

 

1. The April 2021 Cable Franchise Ordinance (which necessarily includes the attachment 

hereto) is approved as the Cable Television Franchise for Leeds, Alabama and Spectrum 

Southeast, LLC.   

2. All ordinances or parts of ordinances including, without limitation, Ordinance 2020-12-

01, in conflict with this Ordinance or any portion thereof, are hereby repealed. 

3. The Mayor and City staff shall have the full authority to do those things, to perform 

those functions, and to sign necessary documentation in order to carry out the actions so 

authorized herein. 

 

Adopted and approved this the 19th day of April, 2021 

  

  AYES:      

  NAYS:      

  ABSENT FROM VOTING:    

  ABSTAIN:      

 

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 

 

        

David Miller, MAYOR     DATE 

 

 

 

19



Page 2 of 2 

 

ATTEST: 

 

  
CITY CLERK     

 

In capacity as City Clerk of the City of Leeds, I hereby certify that the above Ordinance was duly 

adopted by the City Council of the City of Leeds at a regular meeting held on the 19th day of April, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Toushi Arbitelle, City Clerk 

20



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE ORDINANCE 

 

 

FOR  

 

 

LEEDS, ALABAMA 

 

 

AND 

 

 

SPECTRUM SOUTHEAST, LLC 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1.  SHORT TITLE AND DEFINITIONS ......................................................................1 

1. Short Title ....................................................................................................1 

2. Definitions....................................................................................................2 

SECTION 2.  GRANT OF AUTHORITY AND GENERAL PROVISIONS.................................5 

1. Grant of Franchise........................................................................................5 

2. Grant of Nonexclusive Authority.................................................................5 

3. Franchise Term ............................................................................................6 

4. Previous Franchises. ....................................................................................6 

5. Compliance with Applicable Laws, Resolutions and Ordinances ...............6 

6. Written Notice ..............................................................................................6 

SECTION 3.  CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS ...........................................................................7 

1. Registration, Permits Construction Codes and Cooperation........................7 

2. Minimum Interference .................................................................................8 

3. Disturbance or damage……………………………………………………8 

4. Temporary Relocation .................................................................................9 

5. Emergency ...................................................................................................9 

6. Tree Trimming .............................................................................................9 

7. Protection of facilities ..................................................................................9 

  8. Installation records………………………………………………………..9 

9.         Locating facilities…………………………………………………………9 

10.       Relocation delays .......................................................................................10 

11. Interference with City Facilities……………………………………... 10 

12.       Safety Requirements……………………………………………………. 10 

 

SECTION 4.  DESIGN PROVISIONS .........................................................................................10 

 

1. System Upgrade: Minimum Channel CapaCity ........................................10 

2. System Construction 

  3. Interruption of Service 

4. Emergency Alert Capability ......................................................................11 

5. Technical Standards ...................................................................................11 

 

7. FCC Reports...............................................................................................11 

8. Annexation .................................................................................................11 

9. Line Extension ........................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

SERVICE 5. SERVICE PROVISIONS .........................................................................................12 

1. Non-Standard Installations.........................................................................12 

2. Sales Procedures ........................................................................................12 

3. Consumer Protection and Service Standards .............................................12 

4. Subscriber Contracts ..................................................................................15 

5. Refund Policy.............................................................................................17 

6. Late Fees ....................................................................................................16 

22



 
 

 

SECTION 6.   OPERATION AND ADMINISTRATION PROVISIONS ...................................16 

1. Administration of Franchise 

2. Franchise Fee .............................................................................................16 

  3. Discounted Rates………………………………………………………...18 

4. Access to Records ......................................................................................17 

5. Reports to be Filed with City .....................................................................17 

SECTION 7. GENERAL FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE PROVISIONS ..............................17 

1. Liability Insurance .....................................................................................17 

2. Indemnification ..........................................................................................18 

SECTION 8. SALE, ABANDONMENT, TRANSFER AND REVOCATION OF 

FRANCHISE .................................................................................................................................19 

1. City’s Right to Revoke...............................................................................19 

2. Procedures for Revocation .........................................................................19 

  3. Removal After Abandonment, Termination or Forfeiture………………21 

4. Franchise Transfer……………………………………………………….21 

SECTION 9. PROTECTION OF INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS ..........................................................20 

1. Discriminatory Practices Prohibited ..........................................................20 

2. Subscriber Privacy .....................................................................................20 

SECTION 10. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ......................................................................21 

1. Franchise Renewal .....................................................................................21 

2. Work Performed by Others ........................................................................21 

3. Amendment of Franchise Ordinance .........................................................21 

4. Compliance with Federal, State and Local Laws.......................................21 

5. Nonenforcement by City ............................................................................21 

6. Rights Cumulative .....................................................................................21 

 

8. Force Majeure ............................................................................................22 

SECTION 11. PUBLICATION EFFECTIVE DATE; ACCEPTANCE AND EXHIBITS ..........22 

1. Publication, Effective Date ........................................................................22 

2. Acceptance .................................................................................................24 

 

EXHIBIT A. FRANCHISE FEE PAYMENT WORKSHEET .............................................    B-1 

 

 

23



 

B-1 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A FRANCHISE TO SPECTRUM SOUTHEAST, LLC, L/K/A 

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, TO CONSTRUCT, OPERATE, AND MAINTAIN A 

CABLE SYSTEM IN LEEDS, ALABAMA SETTING FORTH CONDITIONS 

ACCOMPANYING THE GRANT OF THE FRANCHISE; PROVIDING FOR REGULATION 

AND USE OF THE SYSTEM AND THE PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY AND PRESCRIBING 

PENALTIES FOR THE VIOLATION OF THE PROVISIONS HEREIN; 

The City Council of Leeds Alabama ordains: 

STATEMENT OF INTENT AND PURPOSE 

City intends, by the adoption of this Franchise, to bring about the further development of a Cable 

System, and the continued operation of it.  Such development can contribute significantly to the 

communication needs and desires of the residents and citizens of City and the public generally.  

Further, City may achieve better utilization and improvement of public services and enhanced 

economic development with the development and operation of a Cable System. 

Adoption of this Franchise is, in the judgment of the City Council, in the best interests of City 

and its residents. 

FINDINGS 

In the review of the request for renewal by Grantee and negotiations related thereto, and as a 

result of a public hearing, the City Council makes the following findings: 

1. Grantee has substantially complied with the material terms of the current Franchise under 

applicable laws; 

 

2. Grantee’s technical ability, financial condition, legal qualifications, and character were 

considered and approved in a full public proceeding after due notice and a reasonable 

opportunity to be heard; 

3. Grantee’s plans for operating the Cable System were considered and found adequate and 

feasible in a full public proceeding after due notice and a reasonable opportunity to be 

heard; 

4. The Franchise granted to Grantee by City complies with the existing applicable state 

statutes, federal laws and regulations; and 

5. The Franchise granted to Grantee is nonexclusive. 

SECTION 1. 

SHORT TITLE AND DEFINITIONS 

 

1. Short Title.  This Franchise Ordinance shall be known and cited as the Cable Television 

Franchise Ordinance. 

24



 

 

2 
 

2. Definitions.  For the purposes of this Franchise, the following terms, phrases, words, and 

their derivations shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Cable Communications 

Policy Act of 1984, as amended from time to time (the “Cable Act”), unless otherwise 

defined herein.  When not inconsistent with the context, words in the singular number 

include the plural number, and words in the plural number include the singular number.  

The word “shall” is always mandatory and not merely directory.  The word “may” is 

directory and discretionary and not mandatory.  Words not defined shall be given their 

common and ordinary meaning. 

a. “Applicable Laws” means any law, statute, charter, ordinance, rule, regulation, 

code, license, certificate, franchise, permit, writ, ruling, award, executive order, 

directive, requirement, injunction (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent), 

judgment, decree or other order issued, executed, entered or deemed applicable by 

any governmental authority. 

b. “Basic Cable Service” means any Service tier which includes the lawful 

retransmission of local television broadcast signals and any public, educational, 

and governmental access programming required by the Franchise to be carried on 

the basic tier.  Basic Cable Service as defined herein shall be the definition set 

forth in 47 U.S.C. § 543(b) (7). 

c. “City Council” means the governing body of Leeds, Alabama. 

d. “Cable Act” shall mean the Cable Communications Act of 1984, as amended, 47 

U.S.C. §§ 521, et. seq. 

e. “Cable Service” or “Service” means (A) the one-way transmission to Subscribers 

of (i) Video Programming or (ii) Other Programming Service, and (B) Subscriber 

interaction, if any, which is required for the selection or use of such Video 

Programming or Other Programming Service.  Cable Service as defined herein 

shall be the definition set forth in 47 U.S.C. § 522(6). 

f. “Cable System” or “System” means a facility, consisting of a set of closed 

transmission paths and associated signal generation, reception, and control 

equipment that is designed to provide Cable Service which includes Video 

Programming and which is provided to multiple Subscribers within a community, 

but such term does not include: 

i. a facility that serves only to retransmit the television signals of one (1) or 

more television broadcast stations; 

ii. a facility that serves Subscribers without using any public Right-of-Way; 

iii. a facility of common carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the 

provisions of 47 U.S.C. § 201 et seq., except that such facility shall be 

considered a Cable System (other than for purposes of 47 U.S.C. § 541(c)) 

to the extent such facility is used in the transmission of Video 

25



 

 

3 
 

Programming directly to Subscribers, unless the extent of such use is 

solely to provide interactive on-demand services; 

iv. an open video system that complies with 47 U.S.C. § 573; or 

v. any facilities of any electric utility used solely for operating its electric 

utility systems. 

vi. Cable System as defined herein shall be the definition set forth in 47 

U.S.C. § 522(7). 

g. “Channel” or “Cable Channel” means a portion of the electromagnetic frequency 

spectrum which is used in a Cable System and which is capable of delivering a 

television Channel as defined by the FCC.  Cable Channel as defined herein shall 

be the definition set forth in 47 U.S.C. § 522(4). 

h. “City” or “Grantor” means Leeds, a municipal corporation, in the State of 

Alabama, acting by and through its City Council, or its lawfully appointed 

designee. 

i. “Drop” means the cable that connects the ground block on the Subscriber’s 

residence to the nearest distribution point of the System. 

j. “FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission and any legally 

appointed, designated or elected agent or successor. 

k. “Franchise” or “Cable Franchise” means this franchise ordinance and the 

regulatory and contractual relationship established hereby. 

l. “Franchise Fee” includes any tax, fee, or assessment of any kind imposed by the 

City or other governmental entity on Grantee or Subscriber, or both, solely 

because of their status as such.  It does not include any tax, fee, or assessment of 

general applicability (including any such tax, fee, or assessment imposed on both 

utilities and cable operators or their services but not including a tax, fee, or 

assessment which is unduly discriminatory against cable operators or cable 

Subscribers); capital costs which are required by the Franchise to be incurred by 

Grantee for public, educational, or governmental access facilities; requirements or 

charges incidental to the awarding or enforcing of the Franchise, including 

payments for bonds, security funds, letters of credit, insurance, indemnification, 

penalties, or liquidated damages; or any fee imposed under Title 17 of the United 

States Code.  Franchise Fee defined herein shall be the definition set forth in 47 

U.S.C. § 542(g). 

m. “Grantee” is Spectrum Southeast, LLC ("Charter Communications"), its lawful 

successors, transferees or assignees. 

n. “Gross Revenue” means any and all revenue derived by Grantee from the 

operation of its Cable System to provide Cable Service within the City including, 

26



 

 

4 
 

but not limited to, 1) all Cable Service fees, 2) late fees and,3) Installation and 

reconnection fees, 4) upgrade and downgrade fees, 5) local, state and national 

advertising revenue, 6) home shopping commissions, 7) equipment rental fees, 

and 8) written or electronic Channel guide revenue.  The term “Gross Revenue” 

shall not include launch fees, bad debts or any taxes or fees on Services furnished 

by Grantee imposed upon Subscribers by any municipality, state or other 

governmental unit, credits, refunds and any amounts collected from Subscribers 

for deposits. City and Grantee acknowledge and agree that Grantee will maintain 

its books and records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 

(GAAP). 

o. “Installation” means any connection of the System from distribution cable to the 

point of connection including Standard Installations and custom Installations with 

the Subscriber Converter or other terminal equipment. 

p. “Normal Business Hours” means those hours during which most similar 

businesses in City are open to serve customers.  In all cases, “Normal Business 

Hours” must include some evening hours, at least one (1) night per week and/or 

some weekend hours.  Normal Business Hours as defined herein shall be the 

definition set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 76.309. 

q. “Normal Operating Conditions” means those Service conditions which are within 

the control of Grantee.  Those conditions which are not within the control of 

Grantee include, but are not limited to, natural disasters, civil disturbances, power 

outages, telephone network outages, and severe or unusual weather conditions.  

Those conditions which are ordinarily within the control of Grantee include, but 

are not limited to, special promotions, pay-per-view events, rate increases, regular 

peak or seasonal demand periods, and maintenance or upgrade of the Cable 

System.  Normal Operating Conditions as defined herein shall be the definition 

set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 76.309. 

r. “Other Programming Service” means information that a cable operator makes 

available to all Subscribers generally.  Other Programming Services as defined 

herein shall be the definition set forth in 47 U.S.C. § 522 (14). 

s. “Person” is any person, firm, partnership, association, corporation, company, 

limited liability entity or other legal entity. 

t. “Right-of-Way” or “Rights-of-Way” means the area on, below, or above any real 

property in City in which the City has an interest including, but not limited to any 

street, road, highway, alley, sidewalk, parkway, utility easements or any other 

place, area, or real property owned by or under the control of City which are 

dedicated for compatible use. 

u. “Right-of-Way Ordinance” means any ordinance or other applicable code 

requirements regarding regulation, management and use of Rights-of-Way in 

City, including permitting requirements. 

27



 

 

5 
 

v. “Service Area” or “Franchise Area” means the entire geographic area within the 

City as it is now constituted or may in the future be constituted. 

w. “Service Interruption” means the loss of picture or sound on one (1) or more 

Cable Channels.  Service Interruption as defined herein shall be the definition set 

forth in 47 C.F.R. § 76.309.  

x. “Standard Installation” means any residential Installation which can be completed 

using an aerial Drop of one hundred twenty-five (125) feet or less. 

y. “Subscriber” means any Person who receives broadcast programming distributed 

by a Cable System and does not further distribute it.  Subscriber as defined herein 

shall be the definition set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 76.5(ee). 

z. “Video Programming” means programming provided by, or generally considered 

comparable to programming provided by, a television broadcast station.  Video 

Programming as defined herein shall be the definition set forth in 47 U.S.C. 

§ 522(20). 

SECTION 2. 

GRANT OF AUTHORITY AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

1. Grant of Franchise.  This Franchise is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions 

contained herein.   

2. Grant of Nonexclusive Authority. 

a. The Grantee shall have the right and privilege, subject to the permitting and other 

lawful requirements of City ordinance, rule or procedure, to construct, erect, and 

maintain, in, upon, along, across, above, over and under the Rights-of-Way in 

City a Cable System and shall have the right and privilege to provide Cable 

Service under the Franchise Agreement.  The System constructed and maintained 

by Grantee or its agents shall not interfere with other uses of the Rights-of-Way.  

Grantee shall make use of existing poles and other above and below ground 

facilities available to Grantee to the extent it is technically and economically 

feasible to do so. 

b. This Franchise shall be nonexclusive, and City reserves the right to grant use of 

said Rights-of-Way to any Person at any time during the period of this Franchise 

for the provision of Cable Service. 

c. If any other wireline provider of cable services or video services (without regard to 

the technology used to deliver such services) is lawfully authorized by the Grantor 

to provide such services using facilities located wholly or partly in the public rights-

of-way of the Grantor, the Grantor shall within thirty (30) days of a written request 

from Grantee, modify this Franchise to insure that the obligations applicable to 

Grantee are no more burdensome than those imposed on the new competing 

provider.  If the Grantor fails to make modifications consistent with this 

28



 

 

6 
 

requirement, Grantee’s Franchise shall be deemed so modified thirty (30) days after 

the Grantee’s initial written notice.  Nothing herein shall be deemed a waiver of 

any remedies available to Grantee under Applicable Laws, including the right to 

seek judicial review to mandate Grantor amend the franchise to ensure competitive 

equity between similarly situated competitive providers. 

 

3. Franchise Term.  This Franchise shall be in effect for a period of ten (10) years from the 

date of execution by City, unless sooner renewed, revoked or terminated as herein 

provided. 

4. Previous Franchises.  Upon acceptance by Grantee as required by Section 11.2 herein, 

this Franchise shall supersede and replace any previous ordinance or other authorization 

granting a franchise to Grantee.  

5. Compliance with Applicable Laws, Resolutions and Ordinances. 

a. The terms of this Franchise shall define the contractual rights and obligations of 

Grantee with respect to the provision of Cable Service and operation of the 

System in City.  However, Grantee shall at all times during the term of this 

Franchise be subject to all lawful exercise of the police power, of the City.  This 

Franchise may also be modified or amended with the mutual written consent of 

City and Grantee as provided in Section 10.3 herein. 

b. Grantor shall at all times be subject to and comply with all Applicable Laws with 

respect to this Franchise.  

c. Grantee shall comply with the terms of any City ordinance or regulation of 

general applicability which addresses usage of the Rights-of-Way within City, 

provided that it does not discriminate between different users of the Rights-of-

Way.  

d. In the event of any conflict between this Franchise and any City ordinance or 

regulation which addresses usage of the Rights-of-Way, the terms of this 

Franchise shall govern, provided however Grantee shall at all times comply with 

City ordinances of general applicability promulgated by the City in accordance 

with its police powers. 

6. Written Notice.  All notices, reports, or demands required to be given in writing under 

this Franchise shall be sent via registered or certified mail or shall be deemed to be given 

when delivered personally to any officer of Grantee or City Clerk or forty-eight (48) 

hours after it is deposited in the United States mail in a sealed envelope, postage prepaid 

thereon, addressed to the party to whom notice is being given, as follows: 

If to City:  City of Leeds 

   Attn: Mayor 

  1400 9th St NE 

  Leeds, AL 35094  

  

29



 

 

7 
 

 If to Grantee: Charter Communications 

  601 Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Ste 400  

  Washington, DC 20001 

           

 With nonbinding courtesy copies to:  

 

                                     Charter Communications 

                                                Attn: Government Relations Director 

  151 London Parkway  

  Birmingham, AL 35211 

 

Such addresses may be changed by either party upon notice to the other party given as 

provided in this section. 

 

SECTION 3. 

CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

 

1. Registration, Permits, Construction Codes, and Cooperation. 

a. Grantee shall comply with the construction requirements of local, state and 

federal laws. 

b. Grantee agrees to obtain a permit as required by City prior to removing, 

abandoning, relocating or reconstructing, if necessary, any portion of its facilities.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, City understands and acknowledges there may be 

instances when Grantee is required to make repairs, in compliance with federal or 

state laws, that are of an emergency nature.  Grantee will notify City prior to such 

repairs, if practicable, and will obtain the necessary permits in a reasonable time 

after notification to City. 

c. City may issue reasonable policy guidelines to all grantees to establish procedures 

for determining how to control issuance of engineering permits to multiple 

grantees for the use of the same Rights-of-Way for their facilities.  Grantee shall 

cooperate with City in establishing such policy and comply, to the extent 

technically feasible, with the procedures established by the Mayor or his or her 

designee to coordinate the issuance of multiple engineering permits in the same 

Right-of-Way segments. 

d. Failure to obtain permits or comply with permit requirements shall subject 

Grantee to all enforcement remedies available to City under Applicable Laws or 

this Franchise. 

e. Grantee shall have the opportunity to meet with developers and be present at pre-

construction meetings to ensure that the newly constructed Cable System facilities 

are installed in new developments, within the City where extension of service is 

economically feasible at Grantee’s discretion, in a timely manner upon written 

notification of such meetings to the Grantee. 

30



 

 

8 
 

f. If requested by the City, Grantee shall meet with the City within 90 days to hold 

an annual meeting with City to coordinate construction plans of both parties for 

the upcoming year. 

g.   Subject to Applicable Laws, when City uses its prior superior right to the Rights-

of-Way and public ways, Grantee shall move its property that is located in the 

Rights-of-Way and public ways, at its own cost, to such a location as City  directs. 

Grantee’s System construction shall at all times comply with Applicable Laws, 

which City agrees shall be applied on a nondiscriminatory basis.  Nothing in this 

Franchise shall be construed to prevent City from constructing, maintaining, 

repairing or relocating sewers; grading, paving, maintaining, repairing, relocating 

and/or altering any Right-of-Way; constructing, laying down, repairing, 

maintaining or relocating any water mains; or constructing, maintaining, 

relocating, or repairing any sidewalk or other public work.  

2. Minimum Interference.   

a. Grantee shall use commercially reasonable efforts to give reasonable prior notice 

to any adjacent private property owners who will be negatively affected or 

impacted by Grantee’s work in the Rights-of-Way. 

b. All transmission and distribution structures, lines and equipment erected by 

Grantee shall be located so as to cause minimum interference with the 

unencumbered use of Rights-of-Way and other public places and minimum 

interference with the rights and reasonable convenience of property owners who 

adjoin any of the Rights-of-Way and public places. 

3. Disturbance or damage.  Any and all Rights-of-Way, or public or private property, which 

are disturbed or damaged during the construction, repair, replacement, relocation, 

operation, maintenance, expansion, extension or reconstruction of the System shall be 

promptly and fully restored by Grantee, at its expense, to a condition as good as that 

prevailing prior to Grantee’s work, as determined by City.  If Grantee shall fail to 

promptly perform the restoration required herein, after written request of City and a thirty 

(30) day opportunity to satisfy that request, City shall have the right to put the Rights-of-

Way back into condition as good as that prevailing prior to Grantee’s work.  In the event 

City determines that Grantee is responsible for such disturbance or damage, Grantee shall 

be obligated to fully reimburse City for such restoration within thirty (30) days after its 

receipt of City’s invoice thereof. 

4. Temporary Relocation.   

a. At any time during the period of the Franchise, Grantee shall, at its own expense, 

protect, support, temporarily disconnect, relocate or remove any of its property 

when, in the opinion of City, (i) the same is required by reason of traffic 

conditions, public safety, Rights-of-Way vacation, freeway or Rights-of-Way 

construction, alteration to or establishment of any Rights-of-Way or any facility 

within the Rights-of-Way, sidewalk, or other public place, including but not 

31



 

 

9 
 

limited to, installation of sewers, drains, waterlines, power lines, traffic signal 

lines or transportation facilities; or (ii) a City project or activity makes 

disconnection, removal, or relocation necessary or less expensive for City. 

b. Grantee shall, on request of any Person holding a permit to move a building, 

temporarily raise or lower its wires to permit the movement of such buildings.  

The expense of such temporary removal or raising or lowering of wires shall be 

paid by the Person requesting the same, and Grantee shall have the authority to 

require such payment in advance. Grantee shall be given not less than ten (10) 

days advance notice to arrange such temporary wire alterations. 

5. Emergency.  Whenever, in case of fire or other emergency, it becomes necessary in the 

judgment of the Mayor, police chief, fire chief, or their delegates, to remove or damage 

any of Grantee’s facilities, no charge shall be made by Grantee against City for 

restoration, repair or damages. Grantor is aware that the communication facilities of the 

Grantee can and does transport emergency required communications such as phone and 

internet life monitoring services if a representative of the Grantor disconnects or damages 

the facilities of the Grantee,   

6.         Tree Trimming.  Grantee shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Code of                

Ordinances of the City regarding the trimming of any tress on public property or in the 

Rights-of-Way.  

 

7.         Protection of facilities.  Nothing contained in this section shall relieve any Person from 

liability arising out of the failure to exercise reasonable care to avoid damaging Grantee’s 

facilities while performing any work connected with grading, regarding or changing the 

line of any Rights-of-Way or public place or the construction or reconstruction of any 

sewer or water system. 

 

8.         Installation records.  Grantee shall keep accurate Installation records of the location of all 

facilities in the Rights-of-Way and public ways and, upon written request of City, will 

make them available for viewing to City at Grantee’s office or in a mutually agreed upon 

location.  

  

9.         Locating facilities.   

 

             a.        If, during the design process for public improvements, City discovers a 

                                   potential conflict with proposed construction, Grantee shall either: (a) locate 

                                   and, if necessary, expose its facilities in conflict or (b) use a location service under 

                                   contract with City to locate or expose its facilities.  Grantee is obligated to  

                                   furnish the location information in a timely manner, but in no case longer than                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

                                   thirty (30) days. 

                              

b. City reserves the prior and superior right to lay, construct, erect, install, use, 

operate, repair, replace, remove, relocate, regrade, widen, realign, or maintain any 

Rights-of-Way and public ways, aerial, surface, or subsurface improvement, 

including but not limited to water mains, traffic control conduits, cable and 

32



 

 

10 
 

devices, sanitary or storm sewers, subways, tunnels, bridges, viaducts, or any 

other public construction within the Rights-of-Way of City limits. 

 

10.       Relocation delays.  

In cases where the City undertakes work in the Right-of-Way, the Grantee shall, upon 

reasonable notice from City, relocate its facilities as reasonably necessary to accommodate 

the City’s work.  The Grantee must promptly provide notice to City of any potential delay 

involving relocation of Grantee’s facilities.  If Grantee’s relocation effort so delays 

construction of a public project causing City to be liable for delay damages, Grantee shall 

reimburse City for those damages attributable to the delay created by Grantee, however 

payment by Grantee shall in no way limit Grantee’s right, if any, to seek reimbursement 

for such costs from any third party.  All of Grantee’s relocation work shall be done in strict 

compliance with the rules, regulations and ordinances of the City and any applicable state 

and federal laws.   

11.       Interference with City Facilities.   

The Installation, use and maintenance of the Grantee’s facilities within the Rights-of-Way 

and public ways authorized herein shall be in such a manner as not to interfere with the 

placement, construction, use and maintenance of its Rights-of-Way and public ways, 

Rights-of-Way lighting, water pipes, drains, sewers, traffic signal systems or other systems 

that have been installed, maintained, used or authorized by City. 

12.       Safety Requirements. 

a. Grantee shall at all times employ ordinary and reasonable care and shall install 

 and maintain in use nothing less than commonly accepted methods and devices 

 for preventing failures and accidents which are likely to cause damage or injuries. 

b. Grantee shall install and maintain its System and other equipment in accordance 

with City’s codes and the requirements of the National Electric Safety Code and 

all other applicable FCC, state and local regulations, and in such manner that they 

will not interfere with City communications technology related to health, safety 

and welfare of the residents. 

c. Cable System structures, and lines, equipment and connections in, over, under and 

upon the Rights-of-Way of City, wherever situated or located, shall at all times be 

kept and maintained in good condition, order, and repair so that the same shall not 

menace or endanger the life or property of City or any Person. 

SECTION 4. 

DESIGN PROVISIONS 
 

1. System Upgrade/Construction: Minimum Channel Capacity. 

a. Grantee shall operate and maintain for the term of this Franchise a System 

capable of providing a minimum of 100 Channels.   

33



 

 

11 
 

b. All final programming decisions remain the discretion of Grantee in accordance 

 with this Franchise and pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §§ 531, 542 and 545.  

2. System Construction.  All transmission lines, equipment and structures shall be so 

installed and located as to cause minimum interference with the rights and reasonable 

convenience of property owners and at all times shall be kept and maintained in a safe, 

adequate and substantial condition, and in good order and repair.  The Grantee shall, at all 

times, employ ordinary care and use commonly accepted methods and devices for 

preventing failures and accidents which are likely to cause damage, injuries, or nuisances 

to the public.  Suitable barricades, flags, lights, flares or other devices shall be used at 

such times and places as are reasonably required for the safety of all members of the 

public.  Any poles or other fixtures placed in any public way by the Grantee shall be 

placed in such a manner as not to interfere with the usual travel on such public way. 

3. Interruption of Service. Grantee shall interrupt Service only for good cause and for the 

shortest time possible.  Such interruption shall occur during periods of minimum use of 

the System.  If Service is interrupted for a total period of more than twenty-four (24) 

continuous hours in any thirty (30) day period, Subscribers shall be credited pro rata for 

such interruption. 

4. Emergency Alert Capability.  Grantee shall at all times comply with the Emergency Alert 

System standards pursuant to Title 47, Section 11, Subparts A-E of the Code of Federal 

Regulations, as may be amended or modified from time to time. 

5. Technical Standards.  The technical standards used in the operation of the System shall 

comply, at minimum, with the technical standards promulgated by the FCC relating to 

Cable Systems pursuant to Title 47, Section 76, Subpart K of the Code of Federal 

Regulations, as may be amended or modified from time to time, which regulations are 

expressly incorporated herein by reference.   

6. FCC Reports.  The results of any tests required to be filed by Grantee with the FCC shall 

upon request of City also be filed with City or its designee within ten (10) days of the 

date of request. 

7. Annexation.  Upon the annexation of any additional land area by the City, if the annexed 

area is not currently served by a cable operator it will be subject to the other provisions of 

this Section 4.  If the annexed area is served by a cable operator, Grantee has the option 

to extend its Cable System to the newly annexed area if Grantee determines that it is 

economically feasible to do so.  Upon the annexation of any additional land area by the 

City, the annexed area shall be subject to all the terms of this Franchise upon sixty (60) 

days of written notification by the City to Grantee.  A cable operator other than Grantee 

whose Cable System already passes homes in an annexed area shall not extend its Cable 

System beyond those homes which it passes at the time the annexation occurs unless it 

otherwise obtains a franchise from the City. In the event the Grantor modifies the Service 

Area by annexation or any other means, the City shall provide at least sixty (60) days 

prior notice to the Grantee. The City shall also notify Grantee of all new street address 

assignments or changes within the Service Area. Said notice shall be in writing to the 

34



 

 

12 
 

address set forth below by U.S. certified mail, return receipt requested. City shall provide 

detail and information, including address files and maps in sufficient detail and in an 

acceptable digital format, if feasible.  Grantee shall begin to collect Franchise Fees from 

Subscribers in any annexed area within ninety (90) days of such notice and address 

information as described above.  Grantee shall not be obligated to collect and remit 

Franchise Fees until such notice and information has been received by Grantee.  

 All notices provided under this subsection shall be delivered to the Grantee at the 

 following address: 

          

                                Charter Communications   

                                Attn: Government Relations Director 

                     151 London Parkway 

                     Birmingham, AL 35211 

 

 Grantee shall provide Grantor thirty (30) days written notice of address changes affecting 

 this subsection pursuant to section 2, paragraph 7.  

    

8. Service Area.  The Grantee shall continue to provide Cable Service to all residences 

within the Service Area where Grantee currently provides Cable Service. Grantee shall 

have the right, but not the obligation, to extend the Cable System into any other portion 

of the Service Area, including annexed areas.  Cable Service offered to Subscribers 

pursuant to this Franchise shall be conditioned upon Grantee having legal access to any 

such Subscriber’s dwelling unit or other units wherein such Cable Service is provided.  

  SECTION 5. 

SERVICE PROVISIONS 
 

1. Non-Standard Installations.  Grantee shall install and provide Cable Service to any 

Person requesting other than a Standard Installation provided that said Cable Service can 

meet FCC technical specifications and all payment and policy obligations are met.  In 

such case, Grantee may charge for the incremental increase in material and labor costs 

incurred beyond the Standard Installation. 

2. Sales Procedures.  Grantee shall have the right to market door-to-door during reasonable 

hours consistent with local ordinances and regulation.  Grantee’s sales personnel will not 

be required to compensate City for any permit that may be required. 

3. Consumer Protection and Service Standards. The Grantee shall comply with all 

applicable federal regulations relating to customer service obligations, including any 

amendments to 47 C.F.R. § 76.309 during the term of this Franchise, which for the 

parties’ convenience are set forth below as they exist on the Effective Date. 

a. Cable System office hours and telephone availability. 

i. Grantee will maintain a local, toll-free or collect call telephone access line 

which will be available to its Subscribers twenty-four (24) hours a day, 

seven (7) days a week. 

35



 

 

13 
 

(1) Trained Grantee representatives will be available to respond to 

customer telephone inquiries during Normal Business Hours. 

(2) After Normal Business Hours, the access line may be answered by a 

service or an automated response system, including an answering 

machine.  Inquiries received after Normal Business Hours must be 

responded to by a trained Grantee representative on the next 

business day. 

ii. Under Normal Operating Conditions, telephone answer time by a 

customer representative, including wait time, shall not exceed thirty (30) 

seconds when the connection is made.  If the call needs to be transferred, 

transfer time shall not exceed thirty (30) seconds.  These standards shall 

be met no less then ninety percent (90%) of the time under Normal 

Operating Conditions, measured on a quarterly basis. 

iii. Grantee shall not be required to acquire equipment or perform surveys to 

measure compliance with the telephone answering standards above unless 

an historical record of complaints indicates a clear failure to comply. 

iv. Under Normal Operating Conditions, the customer will receive a busy 

signal less than three percent (3%) of the time. 

v. Customer service center and bill payment locations will be open at least 

during Normal Business Hours and will be conveniently located. 

b. Installations, Outages and Service Calls.  Under Normal Operating Conditions, 

each of the following standards will be met no less than ninety-five percent (95%) 

of the time measured on a quarterly basis. 

i. Standard Installations will be performed within seven (7) business days 

after an order has been placed.  “Standard” Installations are those that are 

located up to one hundred twenty-five (125) feet from the connection 

point of the existing distribution system. 

ii. Excluding conditions beyond the control of Grantee, Grantee will begin 

working on “Service Interruptions” promptly and in no event later than 

twenty-four (24) hours after the interruption becomes known. Grantee 

must begin actions to correct other Service problems the next business day 

after notification of the Service problem. 

iii. The “appointment window” alternatives for Installations, Service calls, 

and other Installation activities will be either a specific time or, at 

maximum, a four (4) hour time block during Normal Business Hours.  

(Grantee may schedule Service calls and other Installation activities 

outside of Normal Business Hours for the express convenience of the 

customer.) 

iv. Grantee may not cancel an appointment with a customer after the close of 

business on the business day prior to the scheduled appointment. 

v. If Grantee’s representative is running late for an appointment with a 

customer and will not be able to keep the appointment as scheduled, the 

36



 

 

14 
 

customer will be contacted.  The appointment will be rescheduled, as 

necessary, at a time which is convenient for the customer. 

c. Communications between Grantee and Subscribers. 

i. Notifications to Subscribers: 

(1) Grantee will provide written information on each of the following 

areas at the time of Installation of Service, at least annually to all 

Subscribers, and at any time upon request: 

(a) Products and Services offered; 

(b) Prices and options for programming Services and 

conditions of subscription to programming and other 

Services; 

(c) Installation and Service maintenance policies; 

(d) Instructions on how to use the Cable Service; 

(e) Channel positions of programming carried on the System; 

and 

(f) Billing and complaint procedures, including the address   

and telephone number of the nearest customer service 

center. 

(2) Subscribers will be notified of any changes in rates, programming 

Services or Channel positions as soon as possible in writing.  

Notice must be given to Subscribers a minimum of thirty (30) days 

in advance of such changes if the change is within the control of 

the Grantee.  In addition, the Grantee shall notify Subscribers thirty 

(30) days in advance of any significant changes in the other 

information required by Section 76.1602. 

(3) In addition to the requirement of subparagraph (2) of this section 

regarding advance notification to Subscribers of any changes in 

rates, programming services or Channel positions, Grantee shall 

give thirty (30) days written notice to both Subscribers and the 

City before implementing any rate or Service change.  Such notice 

shall state the precise amount of any rate change and briefly 

explain in readily understandable fashion the cause of the rate 

change (e.g., inflation, change in external costs or the 

addition/deletion of Channels). When the change involves the   

deletion of Channels, each Channel deleted must be separately 

identified.  For purposes of the carriage of digital broadcast 

signals, the Grantee need only identify for Subscribers, the 

television signal location and not whether that signal may be 

multiplexed during certain day parts. 

37



 

 

15 
 

(4) To the extent Grantee is required to provide notice of Service and rate 

changes to Subscribers, the Grantee may provide such notice using 

any reasonable written means at its sole discretion. 

(5) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, Grantee shall not 

be required to provide prior notice of any rate change that is the 

result of a regulatory fee, Franchise Fee, or any other fee, tax, 

assessment, or charge of any kind imposed by any federal agency, 

state, or City on the transaction between the Grantee and the 

Subscriber. 

ii. Billing: 

(1) Consistent with 47 C.F.R. § 76.1619, bills will be clear, concise and 

understandable.  Bills must be fully itemized, with itemizations 

including, but not limited to, Basic Cable Service and premium 

Service charges and equipment charges.  Bills will also clearly 

delineate all activity during the billing period, including optional 

charges, rebates and credits. 

(2) In case of a billing dispute, the Grantee must respond to a written 

complaint from a Subscriber within thirty (30) days. 

iii. Refunds:  Refund checks will be issued promptly, but no later than either: 

(1) The Subscriber’s next billing cycle following resolution of the request 

or thirty (30) days, whichever is earlier, or 

(2) The return of the equipment supplied by Grantee if Service is 

terminated. 

iv. Credits: Credits for Service will be issued no later than the Subscriber's 

next billing cycle following the determination that a credit is warranted. 

4. Subscriber Contracts.  Upon request, Grantee shall file with City any standard form 

residential Subscriber contract utilized by Grantee.  If no such written contract exists, 

upon request, Grantee shall file with the City a document completely and concisely 

stating the length and terms of the Subscriber contract offered to customers.  The length 

and terms of any Subscriber contract(s) shall be available for public inspection during 

Normal Business Hours.  A list of Grantee’s current Subscriber rates and charges for 

Cable Service is maintained in Grantee’s public file, and upon request, shall be available 

for public inspection. A copy of Grantee’s current rate card can be located at 

http://www.charter.com/browse/content/rate-card-info.  A copy of Grantee’s current 

channel line-up for Leeds AL can be located at http://www.charter.com/browse/tv-

service/tv#Channel-Lineup 

5. Refund Policy.  If a Subscriber’s Cable Service is interrupted or discontinued without 

cause, for twenty-four (24) or more consecutive hours, the Grantee shall, upon request by 

Subscriber, credit such Subscriber pro rata for such interruption.  For this purpose, every 

month will be assumed to have thirty (30) days. 

38

http://www.charter.com/browse/content/rate-card-info
http://www.charter.com/browse/tv-service/tv#Channel-Lineup
http://www.charter.com/browse/tv-service/tv#Channel-Lineup


 

 

16 
 

6. Late Fees.  Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws with respect to 

any assessment, charge, cost, fee or sum, however characterized, that the Grantee 

imposes upon a Subscriber for late payment of a bill.  The City reserves the right to 

enforce Grantee’s compliance with all Applicable Laws to the maximum extent legally 

permissible. 

SECTION 6. 

OPERATION AND ADMINISTRATION PROVISIONS 

 

1. Administration of Franchise.  The Mayor or other designee shall have continuing 

regulatory jurisdiction and supervision over the System and the Grantee’s operation 

under the Franchise; provided, however, that the City Council shall retain the sole 

authority to take enforcement action pursuant to this Franchise.  

2. Franchise Fee. 

a. During the term of the Franchise, Grantee shall pay quarterly to City a Franchise 

Fee in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of its quarterly Gross Revenues,  

b. Any payments due under this provision shall be payable quarterly.  The payment 

shall be made within forty-five (45) days of the end of each of Grantee’s fiscal 

quarters together with a report showing the basis for the computation in form and 

substance substantially the same as Exhibit A attached hereto.  In the event that a 

Franchise Fee payment or other sum due is not received by the City on or before 

the date due, or is underpaid, Grantee shall pay in addition to the payment, or sum 

due, interest from the due date at the state legal interest rate of 6% annually 

(Alabama Code § 8.8.1). 

c. All amounts paid shall be subject to audit and recomputation by City and 

acceptance of any payment shall not be construed as an accord that the amount 

paid is in fact the correct amount.  In the event the City should conduct a review 

of Grantee’s books and records pursuant to Section 6.6 of this Franchise and such 

review indicates a Franchise Fee underpayment of seven percent (7%) or more 

during the entire period reviewed, the Grantee shall, subject to Applicable Law, 

assume all reasonable documented costs of such audit, and pay same upon 

demand by the City. 

3. Discounted Rates.  For the purposes of this section, in the case of a Cable Service that 

may be bundled or integrated functionally with other services, capabilities, or 

applications, the Franchise Fee shall be applied only to the gross revenue, as defined in 

Section 1.2.n., attributable to Cable Service. Where Grantee bundles, integrates, ties, or 

combines Cable Services with non-video services creating a bundled package, so that 

subscribers pay a single fee for more than one class of service or receive a discount on 

Cable Services, gross revenues shall be determined based on an equal allocation of the 

package discount, that is, the total price of the individual classes of service at advertised 

rates compared to the package price, among all classes of service comprising the 

package. The fact that the Grantee offers a bundled package shall not be deemed a 

39



 

 

17 
 

promotional activity. If the Grantee does not offer any component of the bundled package 

separately, the Grantee shall declare a stated retail value for each component based on 

reasonable comparable prices for the product or service for the purpose of determining 

Franchise Fees based on the package discount described above.  For the purposes of 

determining gross revenue for bundled or integrated services, Grantee shall use the same 

method of determining revenues under generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

4. Access to Records.  The City shall have the right to inspect, upon reasonable notice and 

during Normal Business Hours, or require Grantee to provide within a reasonable time 

copies of any records maintained by Grantee which relate to System operations including 

specifically Grantee’s accounting and financial records. The Grantee shall not be required 

to maintain any books and records for Franchise compliance purposes longer than 

required by applicable state statute of limitations, as may be amended form time to time, 

except for service complaints which shall be kept for one (1) year. City acknowledges 

that some of the records which may be provided by Grantee may be classified as 

confidential and therefore may subject Grantee to competitive disadvantage if made 

public. City shall therefore maintain the confidentiality of any and all records provided to 

it by Grantee which are not required to be made public pursuant to Applicable Laws. 

Grantee shall produce such books and records for City’s inspection at any mutually 

agreed upon location within the City.    

5. Reports to be Filed with City. 

a. Grantee shall file with the City, at the time of payment of the Franchise Fee, a 

 report of all Gross Revenues in form and substance as Exhibit A attached hereto. 

b. City and Grantee shall mutually agree, at the times and in the form prescribed, 

 such other reasonable reports with respect to Grantee’s operations pursuant to this 

 Franchise. 

c. Upon reasonable notice by City, Grantee shall deliver its System maps and plats 

to City’s office located at 1400 9th St NE, Leeds, AL 35094 or at a mutually 

agreed upon location, for viewing, however, for confidential and proprietary 

reasons, Grantee shall not be required to provide copies of its maps and plats to 

City. 

SECTION 7. 

GENERAL FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE PROVISIONS 
 

1. Liability Insurance.  

a. Grantee shall obtain with its acceptance of this Franchise, and at all times 

thereafter maintain in full force and effect at its sole expense, an occurrence-based 

comprehensive general liability insurance policy, including contractual liability 

coverage with standard insurance exclusions, in protection of City, its officers, 

elected officials, boards, commissions, agents and employees.  The policy or 

policies shall name as additional insured the City, its officers, elected officials, 

40



 

 

18 
 

boards, commissions, agents and employees.  The Commercial General Liability 

shall be $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, death or property damage 

and $3,000,000 aggregate. The policy or policies of insurance shall be maintained 

by Grantee in full force and effect during the entire term of the Franchise and 

shall be issued by company licensed to do business in the State of Alabama with a 

rating by A.M. Best & Co. of not less than “A” upon the Effective Date of this 

Franchise or at the time a sale or transfer of ownership is approved by City. 

Grantee shall furnish City with current certificates of insurance evidencing such 

coverage upon request.  Cancellation notice will be provided for any reason other 

than non-payment of premium and requires the City provide Grantee a valid 

contact name and e-mail address (with any changes to the contact name or e-mail 

address being the responsibility of the City).   

2. Indemnification   

a. Grantee shall indemnify, defend and hold City, its officers, boards, commissions, 

agents and employees (collectively the “Indemnified Parties”) harmless from and 

against any and all lawsuits, claims, causes or action, actions, liabilities, demands, 

damages, judgments, settlements, disability, losses, expenses (including attorney’s 

fees and disbursements of counsel) and costs of any nature that any of the 

Indemnified Parties may at any time suffer, sustain or incur arising out of, based 

upon or in any way connected with the Grantee’s negligent operations, the 

exercise of the Franchise, the breach of Grantee of its obligations under this 

Franchise and/or the negligent activities of Grantee, it subcontractors, employees 

and agents hereunder.  Grantee shall be solely responsible for and shall 

indemnify, defend and hold the Indemnified Parties harmless from and against 

any and all matters relative to payment of Grantee’s employees, including 

compliance with Social Security and withholdings. Grantee shall not be required 

to indemnify City for negligence or misconduct on the part of City or its officials, 

boards, commissions, agents, or employees. 

b. The indemnification obligations of Grantee set forth in this Franchise are not 

limited in any way by the amount or type of damages or compensation payable by 

or for Grantee under Workers’ Compensation, disability or other employee 

benefit acts, acceptance of insurance certificates required under this Franchise or 

the terms, applicability or limitations of any insurance held by Grantee. 

c. City does not, and shall not, waive any rights against Grantee which it may have 

by reason of the indemnification provided for in this Franchise, because of the 

acceptance by City, or the deposit with City by Grantee, of any of the certificates 

of insurance described in this Franchise. 

d. The indemnification of City by Grantee provided for in this Franchise shall apply 

regardless of whether or not such insurance policies shall have been determined to 

be applicable to any such damages or claims for damages. 

41



 

 

19 
 

e. In order for City to assert its rights to be indemnified, defended, and held 

harmless, City must, with respect to each claim: 

i. Promptly notify Grantee within ten (10) business days in writing of any 

claim or legal proceeding which gives rise to such right; 

ii. Afford Grantee the opportunity to participate in and fully control any 

compromise, settlement or other resolution or disposition of any claim or 

proceeding; and 

iii. Fully cooperate with reasonable requests of Grantee, at Grantee's expense, 

in its participation in, and control, compromise, settlement or resolution or 

other disposition of such claim or proceeding subject to subparagraph (ii) 

above. 

SECTION 8. 

SALE, ABANDONMENT, TRANSFER AND REVOCATION OF FRANCHISE 

 

1. City’s Right to Revoke. 

In addition to all other rights which City has pursuant to law or equity, City reserves the 

right to commence proceedings to revoke, terminate or cancel this Franchise, and all 

rights and privileges pertaining thereto, if it is determined by City that after notice and an 

opportunity to cure as reordered herein; 

i. Grantee has repeatedly and substantially violated material provisions(s) of 

this Franchise and has not put forth a reasonable proposal to cure such 

violations; or 

ii. Grantee has intentionally and materially evaded any of the provisions of 

the Franchise; or 

iii. Grantee has practiced a material fraud or a material deceit upon City. 

2. Procedures for Revocation. 

a. City shall provide Grantee with written notice of a cause for revocation and the 

intent to revoke and shall allow Grantee thirty (30) days subsequent to receipt of 

the notice in which to correct the violation or to provide adequate assurance of 

performance in compliance with the Franchise. In the notice required therein, City 

shall provide Grantee with the basis of the revocation. 

b. Should City determine to proceed with a revocation proceeding, Grantee shall be 

provided the right to a public hearing affording due process before the City 

Council prior to the effective date of revocation.  The due process to be afforded 

Grantee shall include the Grantee’s right to present any written or verbal 

testimony or other relevant evidence to the City Council for consideration.  Such 

information presented by Grantee shall be considered part of the record of the 

42



 

 

20 
 

proceeding. City shall provide Grantee with written notice of its decision together 

with written findings of fact supplementing said decision. 

c. Only after the public hearing and upon written notice of the determination by City 

to revoke the Franchise may Grantee appeal said decision with an appropriate 

state or federal court or agency.  Nothing in this Franchise, including the 

enforcement provisions set forth in this Section 8, shall prevent Grantee from 

filing at any time a legal action in any permissible court or tribunal seeking a 

declaration or enforcement of Grantee’s rights or obligations under the Franchise. 

d. During the appeal period or pendency of any legal action, the Franchise shall 

remain in full force and effect unless the term thereof sooner expires and Grantee 

is not pursuing renewal under Applicable Law or unless continuation of the 

Franchise would endanger the health, safety and welfare of any Person or the 

public. 

3. Removal After Abandonment, Termination or Forfeiture. In the event of termination or 

forfeiture of the Franchise or abandonment of the System, City shall have the right to 

require Grantee to remove all or any portion of the System from all Rights-of-Way and 

public property within City. 

4.  Franchise Transfer.  The Franchise granted hereunder shall not be assigned, other than to 

an entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Grantee, without 

the prior written consent of the Grantor, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or 

delayed. No such consent shall be required, however, for a transfer in trust, by mortgage, 

by other hypothecation, or by assignment of any rights, title, or interest of the Grantee in 

the Franchise or Cable System to secure indebtedness.  Within thirty (30) days of 

receiving a request for transfer, the Grantor shall notify the Grantee in writing of any 

additional information it reasonably requires to determine the legal, financial and 

technical qualifications of the transferee.  If the Grantor has not taken action on the 

Grantee’s request for transfer within one hundred twenty (120) days after receiving such 

request, consent by the Grantor shall be deemed given. 

SECTION 9. 

PROTECTION OF INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS 
 

1. Discriminatory Practices Prohibited.  Grantee shall not deny Service, deny access, or 

otherwise discriminate against Subscribers or general citizens on the basis of race, color, 

religion, national origin, sex, age, status as to public assistance, affectional preference, or 

disability.  Grantee shall comply at all times with all other Applicable Laws, and all 

executive and administrative orders relating to nondiscrimination. 

2. Subscriber Privacy.  Grantee shall at all times comply with all applicable provisions of 47 

U.S.C. 551 governing subscriber privacy.  Grantor reserves any and all rights it may have 

now or in the future to enforce compliance with all applicable state and federal laws and 

regulations governing subscriber privacy.  

43



 

 

21 
 

SECTION 10. 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

1. Franchise Renewal.  Any renewal of this Franchise shall be performed in accordance with 

Applicable Laws.    

2. Work Performed by Others.  All applicable obligations of this Franchise shall apply to 

any subcontractor or others performing any work or services pursuant to the provisions of 

this Franchise. Grantee shall provide notice to City of the name(s) and address(es) of any 

entity, other than Grantee, which performs substantial services pursuant to this Franchise. 

3. Amendment of Franchise Ordinance.  Grantee and City may agree, from time to time, to 

amend this Franchise.  Such written amendments may be made at any time if City and 

Grantee agree that such an amendment will be in the public interest or if such an 

amendment is required due to changes in federal, state or local laws. 

4. Compliance with Federal, State and Local Laws. 

a. If any federal or state law or regulation shall require or permit City or Grantee to 

perform any service or act or shall prohibit City or Grantee from performing any 

service or act which may be in conflict with the terms of this Franchise, then as 

soon as possible following knowledge thereof, either party shall notify the other 

of the point in conflict believed to exist between such law or regulation.   

b. If any term, condition or provision of this Franchise or the application thereof to 

 any Person or circumstance shall, to any extent, be held to be invalid or 

 unenforceable, the remainder hereof and the application of such term, condition or 

 provision to Persons or circumstances other than those as to whom it shall be held 

 invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby, and this Franchise and all 

 the terms, provisions and conditions hereof shall, in all other respects, continue to 

 be effective and complied with provided the loss of the invalid or unenforceable 

 clause does not substantially alter the agreement between the parties.  In the event 

 such law, rule or regulation is subsequently repealed, rescinded, amended or 

 otherwise changed so that the provision which had been held invalid or modified 

 is no longer in conflict with the law, rules and regulations then in effect, said 

 provision shall thereupon return to full force and effect and shall thereafter be 

 binding on Grantee and City. 

5. Non-enforcement by City.  Grantee shall not be relieved of its obligations to comply with 

any of the provisions of this Franchise by reason of any failure or delay of City to enforce 

prompt compliance.  City may only waive its rights hereunder by expressly so stating in 

writing.  Any such written waiver by City of a breach or violation of any provision of this 

Franchise shall not operate as or be construed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach or 

violation. 

6. Rights Cumulative.   The rights and remedies reserved to the City and Grantee by this 

Franchise are cumulative and shall be in addition to and not in derogation of any other 

44



 

 

22 
 

legal or equitable rights or remedies which the City and Grantee may have with respect to 

the subject matter of this Franchise, and a waiver thereof at any time shall have no effect 

on the enforcement of such rights or remedies at a future time. 

7. Force Majeure. Neither party shall be in default under this Agreement if any failure or 

delay in performance is caused by acts of God; fire; flood; earthquake; lightning; 

unusually severe weather; material or facility shortages or unavailability not resulting 

from such party's failure to timely place orders therefore; war or civil disorder; or any 

other cause beyond the reasonable control of either party hereto.  The excused party shall 

use reasonable efforts under the circumstances to avoid or remove such causes of non-

performance and shall proceed to perform with reasonable dispatch whenever such 

causes are removed or ceased. Notification shall be given by the excused party to the 

other party, of the cause and of the estimated duration, when possible. 

         

           SECTION 11. 

PUBLICATION EFFECTIVE DATE; ACCEPTANCE AND EXHIBITS 
 

1. Publication, Effective Date.  This Franchise shall be published in accordance with 

applicable local and state law.  The effective date of this Franchise shall be the date of 

acceptance by Grantee in accordance with the provisions of Section 11.2. 

2. Acceptance. 

 

a. Grantee shall accept this Franchise within thirty (30) days of its enactment by the 

City Council, unless the time for acceptance is extended by City.  Such 

acceptance by the Grantee shall be deemed the grant of this Franchise for all 

purposes. 

b. Upon acceptance of this Franchise, Grantee and City shall be bound by all the 

terms and conditions contained herein. 

c. Grantee shall accept this Franchise in the following manner: 

i. This Franchise will be properly executed and acknowledged by Grantee 

and delivered to City. 

ii. With its acceptance, Grantee shall also deliver any insurance certificates 

as required herein that have not previously been delivered. 

 

Passed and adopted by the City Council this_____ day of ____________, 2021. 

ATTEST:  LEEDS, ALABAMA 

 

By:  By:        

                                                                                      

Its:            Its:       

 

45



 

 

23 
 

ACCEPTED:  This Franchise is accepted, and we agree to be bound by its terms and conditions. 

 

       SPECTRUM SOUTHEAST, LLC 

  

Date:   ,   2020   By: Charter Communications, Inc., Its Manager 

 

     By:         

                                                                                

  Print Name:   

  

 Its:       Vice President, Government Affairs   

 

SWORN TO BEFORE ME this 

__ day of ___________, 2021. 

  

NOTARY PUBLIC 

 

46



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT A 

FRANCHISE FEE PAYMENT WORKSHEET 

 

TRADE SECRET – CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

47



 

 

 B-2 

 

48



File Attachments for Item:

13. Resolution 2021-04-04: Consider Approving 2021 "Back-to-School" Sales Tax Holiday

49



Page 1 of 3 

 

 

 

CITY OF LEEDS 

RESOLUTION 2021-04-04 
 

AUTHORIZING MUNICIPAL BACK-TO-SCHOOL SALES AND USE TAX HOLIDAY 
 

WHEREAS, §40-23-210 through 213, Code of Alabama, 1975, as amended, allows for municipalities to authorize a back-to-

school exemption from sales and use taxes starting at 12:01 a.m. on the third Friday in July and ends at twelve midnight the 

following Sunday; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to be effective, a municipality must provide such authorization by resolution or ordinance, adopted at 

least 30 days prior to the third full weekend of July, exempting the “covered items” from municipal sales or use taxes during the 

same time period, under the same terms, conditions, and definitions as provided for the state sales tax holiday; and 

 
WHEREAS, a participating county or municipality shall submit a certified copy of their adopted resolution or ordinance 

providing for the sales tax holiday, and any subsequent amendments thereof, to the Alabama Department of Revenue at least 30 

days prior to the effective date of the resolution or ordinance.  

 

WHEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS, that: 

 

1. The City Council hereby provides for an exemption of the municipal sales and use tax, starting at 12:01 a.m. on the 

third Friday in July and ending at twelve midnight the following Sunday, applicable to purchases of items covered by 

and in accordance with §40-23-210 through 213, Code of Alabama, 1975 as amended and ALDOR Rule 810-6-3-.65 

Sales Tax Holiday for “Back-to-School” (e.g. see Exhibit A). 

2. The Mayor and Staff shall have the all necessary authority to fully comply with the actions and authorizations provided 

for herein. 

3. The City Clerk shall immediately certify a copy of this Resolution under seal of the City of Leeds and forward same 

to the Alabama Department of Revenue to be recorded and posted accordingly. 

 

APPROVED this 19th day of April 2021. 

  AYES:       

  NAYS:       

  ABSENT FROM VOTING:    

  ABSTAIN:      

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 

 

     

David Miller, MAYOR      

 

ATTEST: 

 

  

City Clerk 

 

In my capacity of City Clerk of the City of Leeds, I hereby certify that the above Resolution was duly adopted by the City 

Council of the City of Leeds at a properly called meeting held on the 19th day of April 2021. 

 

       

Toushi Arbitelle, City Clerk      

 

 

 

 

 

 

50



Page 2 of 3 

 

 

EXHIBIT A  

 

2021 SALES TAX HOLIDAY 

Alabama will hold its 16th annual sales tax holiday, 

beginning Friday, July 16, 2021 at 12:01 a.m. and ending Sunday, July 18, 2021 at 12 midnight, 

giving shoppers the opportunity to purchase certain school supplies, computers and clothing free of 

state sales tax.  Local sales tax may apply. 

 

For more information, contact us 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m., CST 

Monday through Friday 

334-242-1490 or 866-576-6531 
 

 
CLOTHING - $100 or Less, per article of clothing 

EXEMPT: 
Includes all human wearing apparel suitable for general use - Not an all-inclusive list 

• Belts 

• Boots 

• Caps 

• Coats 

• Diapers 

• Dresses 

• Gloves 

• Gym Suits 

• Hats 

• Hosiery 

• Jackets 

• Jeans 

• Neckties 

• Pajamas 

• Pants 

• Raincoats 

• Robes 
• Sandals 

• Scarves 

• School Uniforms 

• Shirts 

• Shoes 

• Shorts 

• Socks 

• Sneakers 

• Underwear 

TAXABLE: 

Clothing Accessories: 
• Belt Buckles (sold separately) 

• Briefcases 

• Cosmetics 

• Costume masks (sold separately) 

• Hair Notions (barrettes, hair bows, etc) 

• Handbags 

• Handkerchiefs 

• Jewelry 

• Patches & Emblems (sold separately) 

• Sewing Equipment & Supplies (pins 

(patterns, scissors, tape measures, etc) 

• Sewing Materials (thread, fabric, buttons, 

zippers, etc) 

• Sun glasses, eye glasses, contacts 

(prescription or nonprescription) 

• Umbrellas 

• Wallets 

• Watches 

• Wigs & hair pieces 

Protective Equipment: 
• Breathing Masks 

• Clean Room Apparel & Equipment 

• Ear & Hearing Protectors 

• Face Shields 

• Hard Hats 

• Helmets 

• Paint or Dust Respirators 

• Protective Gloves 

• Safety Glasses & Goggles 

• Safety Belts 

• Tool Belts 

• Welders Gloves & Masks 

Sport or Recreational 

Equipment: 
• Ballet or Tap Shoes 

• Band Instruments 

• Cleated or Spiked Athletic Shoes 

• Gloves (baseball, bowling, boxing, 

hockey, golf, etc) 

• Goggles 

• Hand & Elbow Guards 

• Life Preserves & Vests 

• Mouth Guards 

• Roller & Ice Skates 

• Shin Guards 

• Shoulder Pads 

• Ski Boots 

• Waders 

• Wetsuits & Fins 

COMPUTERS, COMPUTER SOFTWARE, & SCHOOL COMPUTER SUPPLIES - 
A single purchase with a sales price of $750 or Less 

51

http://revenue.alabama.gov/salestax/STholiday.cfm
https://revenue.alabama.gov/contact/


 

EXEMPT: 

COMPUTERS – For purposes of the exemption, a computer may include a laptop, desktop, or tower computer system which 

consists of a central processing unit (CPU), and devices such as a display monitor, keyboard, mouse, and speakers sold as a 

computer package. Computer parts and devices not sold as part of a package with the CPU, will not qualify for the exemption. 
COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

SCHOOL COMPUTER SUPPLIES – An item commonly used by a student in a course of study in which a computer is used 

– All inclusive list includes: 

• Computer Storage Media; diskettes, compact disks 

• Handheld electronic schedulers, except devices that are cellular phones 

• Personal digital assistants, except devices that are cellular phones 

• Computer Printers 

• Printer Supplies for Computers (printer paper, printer ink) 

TAXABLE: 

• Furniture 

• Any systems, devices, software, peripherals designed or intended primarily for recreational use, or 

• Video games of a non-educational nature 

 

SCHOOL SUPPLIES, SCHOOL ART SUPPLIES & SCHOOL INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIAL - 
Sales Price of $50 or Less, per item (Noncommercial Purchases) 

EXEMPT: 

SCHOOL SUPPLIES - All Inclusive List: 

• Binders 

• Blackboard Chalk 

• Book Bags 

• Calculators 

• Cellophane Tape 

• Compasses 

• Composition Books 

• Crayons 

• Erasers 

• Folders (expandable, pocket, plastic 

& manila) 

• Glue, paste, and paste sticks 

• Highlighters 

• Index Cards 

• Index Card Boxes 

• Legal Pads 

• Lunch Boxes 

• Markers 

• Notebooks 

• Paper (loose leaf ruled notebook 

paper, copy paper, graph paper, 
tracing paper, manila paper, colored 

paper, poster board, and 
construction paper) 

• Pencil Boxes & Other School 

Supply Boxes 

• Pencil Sharpeners 

• Pencils 

• Pens 

• Protractors 

• Rulers 

• Scissors 

• Writing Tablets 

SCHOOL ART SUPPLIES - All Inclusive List: 

• Clay & Glazes 

• Paints (Acrylic, Tempora & Oil) 

• Paintbrushes for artwork 

• Sketch and Drawing Pads 

• Watercolors 

 

SCHOOL INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIAL – All Inclusive List: (Written material commonly used by 

a student in a course of study as a reference and to learn the subject being taught) 
• Reference Maps and Globes 

• Required Textbooks on an official school book list with a sales price of more than $30 and less than $50 

 

BOOKS – Sales Price of $30 or Less, per book (Noncommercial Purchases) 

EXEMPT: 

BOOKS - The term book is defined as a set of printed sheets bound together and published in a volume with an ISBN 

number. 

TAXABLE: 

• Magazines 

• Newspapers 

• Periodicals 

• Any Other Document Printed or Offered for Sale in a Non-Bound Form 

 

52



File Attachments for Item:

14. Resolution 2021-04-05: Consider Approval to Make Certain Budget Amendments to 

Purchase Various Equipment

53



Page 1 of 2 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  2021-04-05 

 

APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN EQUIPMENT FOR VARIOUS 

CITY DEPARTMENTS ALONG WITH ASSOCIATED BUDGET AMENDMENTS 

 

WHEREAS, based on requests from various City departments, the Finance Committee has 

recommendations in regard to those requests to the full Council; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order for the related expenditures to be authorized, the City Council would have to approve 

the subject purchases along with the related amendments to the City budget. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Leeds that: 

 

1. The Recitals above are true, correct, and included herein as if fully set forth. 

2. The following equipment purchases are hereby approved: 

 

ASSOCIATED 

DEPARTMENT 

EQUIPMENT VALUE FUNDING SOURCE 

POLICE Body and Vehicle Camera 

System 

$107,007.00 CIP          General Fund 

POLICE Body Camera/ Cloud 

based Data Storage 

$3,447.00/mo. 

$41,364/yr. 

         General Fund 

FIRE    Vehicle Camera System $39,994.00 CIP General Fund 

FIRE Cloud based data storage 

and warranty 

$301.00/mo. 

$3,913.00/yr. 

General Fund 

Public Works Dump Truck Not to exceed 

$126,000.00 

          General Fund 

Storm Water Vehicles Not to exceed 

$130,000 

Will be paid in 2021-22 

budget 

         Storm Water 

3. To the extent necessary, the City budget shall be amended to reflect the transactions authorized herein above. 

4. The Mayor and staff shall have the full authority to do those things, perform those functions, make such 

decisions, and to sign necessary documentation in order to carry out and fully complete the actions so 

authorized herein. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City of Leeds City Council on the 19th day of April 

2021. 

 

  AYES:       

  NAYS:       

  ABSENT FROM VOTING:    

  ABSTAIN:      

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 

 

        

David Miller, MAYOR     DATE 

 

ATTEST: 

 

  

City Clerk 

54



Page 2 of 2 

 

 

In my capacity as the City Clerk of the City of Leeds, I hereby certify that the above Resolution was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Leeds at a regular meeting held on the 19th day of April 2021. 

 

  ___________________________________ 

  Toushi Arbitelle, City Clerk 

55



File Attachments for Item:

15. Resolution 2021-04-06: Consider Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The 

City Code Of Ordinances at 7310 Parkway Drive

56



Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF LEEDS 

RESOLUTION NO.: 2021-04-06 
 

RESOLUTION REGARDING THE REVOCATION OF A BUSINESS LICENSE 

PURSUANT TO THE CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Leeds regulates Licenses for Business located within the City limits pursuant to, without 

limitation, Chapter 12 of the City of Leeds Code of Ordinances, as amended; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Leeds did authorize Gene Martin to operate a vehicle repair facility under the name 

Greenwave Collision at 7310 Parkway Drive, Leeds, AL 35094, to operate and to conduct business within the 

City limits; and 

WHEREAS, Licensee recently made late payment and electronically renewed their business license in March 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee has repeatedly violated or allowed to be violated ordinances of the City of Leeds which 

are in direct relation to the business for which the business license is issued; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee has repeatedly been reported by citizens in regard to troublesome business practices; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee has repeatedly been noticed for violations, and found to be in violation, of the City Zoning 

Regulations; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee and/or the tenants of the subject property have been provided proper notice of the 

violations of the subject ordinances, and the subject violations have either continued or been repeated, the City 

was also forced to remedy certain zoning violations all to the detriment of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee was provided proper notice of, and was present at, a hearing in front of the City Council 

on this date in order to determine why the subject business license should not be revoked. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Leeds that: 

 

1. The Recitals above are true, correct, approved and included herein as if fully set forth. 

 

2. The City hereby revokes the business license of the Licensee (Gene Martin) in reference to the Licensee 

and/or License in regard to the operation of Greenwave Collision at 7310 Parkway Drive, Leeds, AL 

35094. 

 

3. The Mayor, staff and City attorneys shall have the full authority to do those things, perform those 

functions, make such decisions, take such action, and to sign necessary documentation in order to carry 

out and fully complete the actions so authorized herein. 

 

4. The provisions of this Resolution are severable.  If any part of this Resolution is determined by a court of 

law to be invalid, unenforceable or unconstitutional, such determination shall not affect any other part of 

this Resolution.  

 

 

 

57



Page 2 of 2 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

LEEDS, ALABAMA on this 19th day of April, 2021. 

       

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 

 

 

___________________________________  ____________________________________ 

DAVID MILLER, MAYOR    DATE 

 

ATTEST:      AYES:    ______ 

       NAYS:    ______ 

       ABSENT FROM VOTING: ______ 

___________________________________  ABSTAIN:   ______ 

CITY CLERK     

 

In capacity as City Clerk of the City of Leeds, I hereby certify that the above Resolution was duly adopted 

by the City Council of the City of Leeds at a regular meeting held on the 19th day of April, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Toushi Arbitelle, City Clerk 

 

58



File Attachments for Item:

16. Resolution 2021-04-07: Consider Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The 

City Code Of Ordinances at 1234 Markeeta Spur Road

59



Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF LEEDS 

RESOLUTION NO.: 2021-04-07 
 

RESOLUTION REGARDING THE REVOCATION OF A BUSINESS LICENSE 

PURSUANT TO THE CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Leeds regulates Licenses for Business located within the City limits pursuant to, without 

limitation, Chapter 12 of the City of Leeds Code of Ordinances, as amended; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Leeds did authorize Jonathan Hayes to operate a construction contracting business under 

the name Hayes Construction, 1234 Markeeta Spur Rd, Moody, AL 35004, to operate and to conduct business 

within the City limits; and 

WHEREAS, Licensee has repeatedly violated or allowed to be violated ordinances of the City of Leeds which 

are in direct relation to the business for which the business license is issued; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee has repeatedly been reported by citizens in regard to troublesome business practices; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee and/or the tenants of the subject property have been provided proper notice of the 

violations of the subject ordinances, and the subject violations have either continued or been repeated; and 

 

WHEREAS, Licensee was provided proper notice of, and was present at, a hearing in front of the City Council 

on this date in order to determine why the subject business license should not be revoked. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Leeds that: 

 

1. The Recitals above are true, correct, approved and included herein as if fully set forth. 

 

2. The City hereby revokes the business license of the Licensee (Jonathan Hayes) in reference to the 

Licensee and/or License BL18-000012 and in regard to the operation of Hayes Construction, 1234 

Markeeta Spur Rd, Moody, AL 35004. 

 

3. The Mayor, staff and City attorneys shall have the full authority to do those things, perform those 

functions, make such decisions, take such action, and to sign necessary documentation in order to carry 

out and fully complete the actions so authorized herein. 

 

4. The provisions of this Resolution are severable.  If any part of this Resolution is determined by a court of 

law to be invalid, unenforceable or unconstitutional, such determination shall not affect any other part of 

this Resolution.  

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

LEEDS, ALABAMA on this 19th day of April, 2021. 

       

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 

 

60



Page 2 of 2 

 

___________________________________  ____________________________________ 

DAVID MILLER, MAYOR    DATE 

 

ATTEST:      AYES:    ______ 

       NAYS:    ______ 

       ABSENT FROM VOTING: ______ 

___________________________________  ABSTAIN:   ______ 

CITY CLERK     

 

In capacity as City Clerk of the City of Leeds, I hereby certify that the above Resolution was duly adopted 

by the City Council of the City of Leeds at a regular meeting held on the 19th day of April, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Toushi Arbitelle, City Clerk 

 

61



File Attachments for Item:

17. Resolution 2021-04-08: Consider Approval of Alcohol License to Himalaya Leeds 

Corporation, trade name Lucky 7s at 7502 Parkway Drive

62



 

CITY OF LEEDS 

RESOLUTION NO.: 2021-04-08 

RESOLUTION APPROVING OF ALCOHOL LICENSE 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Leeds has been notified that applicant, HIMALAYA LEEDS 

CORP, trade name LUCKY 7s has applied with the State of Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control 

Board (“ABC Board”) an Application for an Alcohol License Type 050 – Retail Beer (Off 

Premises Only) and Type 070 – Retail Table Wine (Off Premise Only) located at 7502 Parkway 

Drive; Leeds, AL 35094. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Leeds that the 

City Clerk is directed to inform the ABC Board that the City of Leeds has no objection to the 

Alcohol License for the sale of Retail Beer (Off Premises Only) and Retail Table Wine (Off 

Premises Only). 

. 
AYES: 

 

 

NAYS: 
 

ABSENT FROM VOTING:    
 

ABSTAIN: 

 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 19th day of April 2021 

CITY OF LEEDS, ALABAMA 
 

 

 

David Miller, MAYOR DATE 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

Toushi Arbitelle, City Clerk 

 

I, Toushi Arbitelle, City Clerk of the City of Leeds, hereby certify that the above Resolution was 

duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Leeds at a regular meeting held on the 19th day of 

April 2021 
 

 

City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1 of 1 

210 63


	Top
	1.	Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The City Code Of Ordinances at 7310 Parkway Drive
	3-a 2021-03-30- Martin greenwave collision

	2.	Revocation Of A Business License Pursuant To The City Code Of Ordinances at 1234 Markeeta Spur Road
	3-b 2021-03-30-HAYES construction

	3.	B21-000004: Beverage License to Himalaya Leeds Corporation, trade name Lucky 7s at 7502 Parkway Drive
	3-a B21-00004_Notice of Public Hearing

	4.	Minutes from April 05, 2021
	4-a Regular Council Meeting Minutes 04-05-2021

	5.	Mayor's Report: Mayor David Miller
	6.	Police Department: Chief Atkinson
	Mar 2021-Council

	7.	Fire Department: Chief Parsons
	8.	Library: Library Director Carden
	9.	Municipal Court: Magistrate Roberts
	10.	Development Services Department: City Administrator Watson
	6-g Overtime report 03-23-2021 to 04-05-2021

	11.	Public Works Department: Public Works Director Warren
	12.	O2021-04-01: Re-approval of Cable Franchise Ordinance
	8-a O2021-04-01 reapproval of Charter Cable Franchise
	2021.4.9 Leeds AL Cable Franchise Agreement - Charter Communications - Final 2

	13.	R2021-04-04: Back to School Sales Tax Holiday
	8-b R2021-04-04 Back to School Sales Tax Holiday

	14.	R2021-04-05: Budget Amendments
	8-c R2021-04-05 approval of purchase of various items of equip and related budget amendments

	15.	R2021-04-06: Revocation of business license - Greenwave Collision
	8-d R2021-04-05 Revocation of Business License Leeds GreenWave Collission

	16.	R2021-04-07: Revocation of Business License - Hayes Construction
	8-e R2021-04-07 Revocation of Business License Jonathan Hayes Construction

	17.	R2021-04-08: Alcohol License to Himalaya Leeds Corp /dba/ Lucky 7s at 7502 Parkway Drive
	8-f R2021-04-08 Himalaya Leeds dba Lucky 7s 7502 Parkway Dr

	Bottom

